IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 92008 CASE NO. 77,563

FREDDIE LEE HALL,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jack W. Crooks Assistant Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-Middle Florida Bar No.

Tracy L. Martinell Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 073865

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 405 North Reo Street, Suite 150 Tampa, Florida 33609-1004 813-871-7900

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves an appeal from a denial of collateral relief following the remand of this case by the Florida Supreme Court to the Honorable Richard Tombrink, Jr., Circuit Judge, for a resentencing. A subsequent appeal of the second imposition of the death penalty was denied. A motion was filed pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850, and a hearing was held on Mr. Hall's claims that his trial attorney was ineffective and that Mr. Hall was not competent during the resentencing. The trial court denied all relief. Mr. Hall appeals the denial of relief and the death sentence which violates the constitutions of both the State of Florida and the United States.

Citations in this brief shall be as follows: the record on appeal concerning the resentencing proceedings shall be referred to as "R. ____" followed by the appropriate page number. The supplemental record on appeal shall be referred to as SR.___." The record on appeal from the Rule 3.850 proceedings shall be referred to as "HR.___." All other references will be self-explanatory or otherwise explained herein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The appellant was tried in Putnam County in 1978. The jury found him guilty of first degree murder and recommended that the death sentence be imposed. The original trial court imposed the death sentence June 27, 1978, which was affirmed by this Court in Hall v. State, 403 So. 2d 1321 (Fla. 1981). The appellant filed a motion to vacate in September of 1982, which was denied; this Court affirmed the denial in Hall v. State, 420 So. 2d 872 (Fla. 1982). On petition for writ of habeas corpus the federal district court denied relief. Hall v. Wainwright, 565 F.Supp. 1222 (M.D. Fla. 1983). The Eleventh Circuit affirmed in part and reversed in part, and remanded for a hearing. Hall v. Wainwright, 733 F.2d 766 (11th Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1107, 105 S.Ct. 2344, 85 L.Ed.2d 858 (1985). On remand, the district court again denied relief and the circuit court affirmed. Hall v. Wainwright, 805 F.2d 945 (11th Cir. 1986). The appellant then sought certiorari review in the United States Supreme Court based upon Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S.Ct. 1821, 95 L.Ed.2d 347 (1987), which was denied. Hall v. Dugger, 484 U.S. 905, 108 S.Ct. 248, 98 L.Ed.2d 206 (1987). This Court denied the appellant's petition for habeas corpus in Hall v. Dugger, 531 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 1988), where he sought a new sentencing proceeding.

On March 9, 1989, this Court reversed the appellant's sentence and remanded for a new sentencing proceeding. <u>Hall v. State</u>, 541 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 1989). The original trial judge recused himself from the proceedings, and the case was reassigned. Resentencing commenced on December 10, 1990.

At the resentencing hearing, there was considerable testimony regarding the appellant's mental retardation. The appellant was the sixteenth of seventeen children. (R. 1572). He

dropped out of school in the eleventh grade, last in his class. (R. 1555). While the appellant was in school, several teachers over the years commented in the appellant's records that the appellant's mental maturity was far below his chronological age, and that he was slow and mentally retarded. (R. 1556).

Although the appellant matured physically, his mind and behavior remained that of an elementary-school child. (R. 1579). Roosevelt Johnson, one of the appellant's brothers, testified that the appellant was frustrated at being unable to speak clearly or communicate with others, and had been all his life. (R. 1592).

The appellant's mother was known as the "Root Lady." (R. 1599, 1630). She was superstitious, believed in voodoo, and occasionally worked for a local fortune teller. (R. 1622, 1630-31). Hall's parents both drank heavily, and fought violently, often with weapons. (R. 1593). The appellant's mother refused to feed her children, choosing instead to hoard the family's food in anticipation of a famine she believed was coming. (R. 1595-96).

All of the Hall children were abused, although the appellant often got the worst of it as he was the slowest. (R. 1597). The mother would tie the children's hands to the ceiling crossbeams and beat them naked. (R. 1598). She also put a "croaker sack" over his head and beat him while he swung backward over a fire. (R. 1620, 1626, 1629). Hall's mother once buried him in sand up to his neck in order to strengthen his legs. (R. 1622). She pointed guns at her sons and made them kneel as she poked them with sticks. (R. 1601). She also gave the neighbors permission to punish the appellant, and some forced him to stay under their beds for entire days. (R. 1600). His mother would also lock him in the smokehouse for long intervals, and neighborhood children would mock Hall during this confinement. (R. 1659-60).

One of Hall's brothers testified at resentencing that Hall would hallucinate, often imagining things were after him. (R. 1627-28). His fear of the dark was well-known. Another cousin testified that Hall often saw ghosts and heard things. (R. 1619). His reputation in the community was that he was crazy. (R. 1619).

Expert testimony revealed that not only was Hall mentally retarded and abused as a child, but that he is currently mentally disabled and functionally illiterate, with a short-term memory equivalent to that of a six-year-old child. (R. 1717, 1734). The highest score Hall achieved on a complete battery of tests administered by Dr. Barbara Bard in September of 1986 placed him at the sixth-grade elementary level; all other scores were at first and second grade levels. (R. 1718-19). There was no evidence that the appellant malingered to obtain these scores. (R. 1720). Hall also suffers from dysarthria and apraxia, which is an inability to voluntarily move the speech musculature. (R. 1722). Dr. Bard testified that such speech impediments greatly affect childhood development; a child's inability to communicate with adults or other children isolates the child, which in turn restricts mental growth. (R. 1723). Dr. Bard listened to a recorded statement Hall gave to the police in 1978 and concluded that Hall's physical and mental deficiencies, as previously described, were evident on the tape recording. (1724-30).

Dr. Jethro Toomer, an expert in forensic psychology, testified that Hall had an I.Q. of 60, which makes him mentally retarded. Dr. Toomer also testified that Hall suffers from organic brain damage. (R. 1745-48). Being retarded, Hall was not mentally capable of understanding or resolving the physical abuse he suffered at the hands of his mother and others as he grew up. (R. 1762-66, 1771). Dr. Toomer was certain that Hall was not malingering, a conclusion based not only on the reliability factors built into the various tests, but also on the vast quantity of

objective evidence, derived from totally independent sources, that document long-standing mental deficiencies. (R. 1755-60). Dr. Toomer concluded to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that, on the date Mrs. Hurst was murdered, Hall was under the influence of extreme mental disturbance and that Hall's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. (R. 1772-73).

Dr. Kathleen Heide also concluded to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that on the day of the murder Hall's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. (R. 1852-54). Dr. Heide also testified that Hall is mentally a child, and that he functions on a level that is much younger than one would expect even of an adolescent. (R. 1836-37).

Dr. Dorothy Lewis concluded to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that, on the day of the offense, Hall was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional distress and that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was substantially impaired. (SR. 39-40, 82-83). Dr. Lewis concluded that Hall's mental retardation and brain damage have existed since childhood, and that saying simply that Hall has a "learning disability" does not do justice to Hall's condition. (SR. 42).

In rebuttal, the State presented the testimony of Dr. Frank Carrera, one of the original psychiatrists appointed to determine whether Hall was competent to stand trial in 1978. Dr. Carrera had originally found Hall to be competent to stand trial. (R. 1958). The appellant was again sentenced to death by a jury vote of eight to four. This Court again affirmed the sentence. Hall v. State, 614 So. 2d 505 (Fla. 1993). A Motion to Correct or Vacate Sentence was filed.

All but one issue was summarily denied, and an evidentiary hearing regarding the appellant's competency to proceed was held on August 25, 1997.

Patricia Jenkins represented Mr. Hall at the resentencing. (HR. 6). She testified that she defended him through penalty phase, and did not remember how many witnesses she dealt with, but did remember that she "was to assist with Freddie, himself. I was to try to make sure that Freddie was okay during the proceedings." (HR. 7). This was so because there had been occasions where Mr. Hall had outbursts both in the courtroom and in other places. (HR. 7). The other attorneys felt that as long as there was someone there with Mr. Hall during the proceeding, everything would run more smoothly. (HR. 7). Therefore, her role was to "take care" of Mr. Hall. (HR. 8).

She testified that, "[d]uring the proceedings, Freddie was, in most instances, fairly withdrawn. The judge gave us permission to have hard candy there at the table and Freddie liked that and he was able to have candy. He had a Bible." (HR. 8). He stared at the Bible all day, rarely looking at witnesses on the stand. (HR. 9). Ms. Jenkins had hardly any communication with Freddie, and did not think he paid any attention to the witnesses. (HR. 9-10).

It was her understanding that Mr. Hall was on medication and that he had been on medication for a good period of time. (HR. 10). At one point, the trial court had to order that Mr. Hall receive his medication from the jail, as he was becoming agitated. (HR. 12). After being medicated, Mr. Hall went from being very agitated and angry to being very "compliant and easy for me to deal with in the courtroom." (HR. 13).

Ms. Jenkins testified that, "Freddie never really seemed focused on the proceedings at all. ... Most of the time what he was fixated on during the trial was me." (HR. 13). He wanted to know what perfume she wore, wanted a handkerchief with a sample of it, and took the part of her cup with her lipstick imprint on it. (HR. 13-14). She testified that, "[d]uring the time that I was representing Freddie, the conversations that Freddie would have with me concerning a case were always about the case that occurred years ago." (HR. 16). She did not believe Mr. Hall had the capability to help with trial strategy. (HR. 20).

His attorneys filed a Motion for Change of Venue because Mr. Hall was afraid and they believed his fear might have rendered him incompetent during the resentencing proceedings. (HR. 22). Regarding Mr. Hall's ability to assist in his defense, Ms. Jenkins testified:

In terms of the ability to have an understanding of, of -- of communication, long-term communication concerning anything technical, you just didn't. It -- we couldn't. First of all, I had to overcome the language problem. We came up with a way of communicating that was fairly simplistic. So in terms of knowledge, understanding of what's going on, Freddie has probably been the worst. . . It's just that when I first met Freddie and began to talk to him, I couldn't understand anything he said. I needed Mike Johnson to interpret As we began to, as I began to visit with him and talk with him, we were able to communicate.

(HR. 27-28).

Ms. Jenkins could not say that Mr. Hall communicated relevantly with her, as he looked at the book and the table the whole time. (HR. 35-36). She personally had concerns about his legal competence. (HR. 37). However, the doctors who examined him thought Mr. Hall was competent to proceed. (HR. 40, 43).

Thomas Michael Johnson was also one of the Mr. Hall's resentencing lawyers. He testified that there were numerous issues with regard to Mr. Hall's mental health. (HR. 60). It was difficult to keep Mr. Hall focused on the proceedings. (HR. 61). Mr. Johnson testified regarding Mr. Hall's ability to assist in his defense:

He had a book. . . . It was some sort of a book that had, I think, religious pictures. Pictures of Bethlehem and those kinds of pictures. And he spent the bulk of his time looking at the book. There were times when he got agitated. Miss Jenkins was very competent in helping him to stay calm. I had been through at least one or two other proceedings in years past where Freddie did not stay real calm. And I wanted to make sure that he behaved himself as best as possible. And Miss Jenkins did that very well. He looked at a book a lot. There were times when he got agitated about things.

(HR. 66).

Mr. Johnson was forced to go to the jail one night because "Freddie was having a problem down at the jail, spent the night at the jail. . . ." (HR. 67-68). Apparently, Mr. Hall "wanted to use the phone and he was pitching a fit and they wouldn't let him use the phone because of the lateness of the hour. And he was going to tear the plumbing fixtures off the wall and they called up to tell me that they were going in to put him in restraints." (HR. 68).

Mr. Johnson dictated a memo to the file regarding the transfer of the case stating,

I suspect, based upon the demeanor of Freddie during this interview, if it is a test, they're referring, I think, to the MRI test, if it is a test that they want to put him to sleep, that he will not participate and may get violent. The defendant again discussed the root man who is located in Groveland and indicated that his sister, Katie, knows all about the root man so I need to get Katie in to discuss with her the root man... The root man is a voodoo man and there was somebody in Groveland that Freddie believed could put hexes on folks and his mother had been involved in a belief, in some of the supernatural stuff.

(HR. 75-76).

Mr. Johnson testified that he always had concerns about Mr. Hall's mental state. However, he also believed the doctors who informed him Mr. Hall was competent to proceed. (HR. 82). His main concern was that Mr. Hall maintain appropriate courtroom behavior, which meant paying attention to the witnesses, and "sitting there and not acting out. Acting appropriately means being able to-- helping me when I need to and sometimes he could and sometimes he didn't." (HR. 92, 95).

Dr. Harry Krop testified that he evaluated Mr. Hall in March and September 1990. (HR. 115). In addition to his own interview, Dr. Krop reviewed many of the previous psychiatric reports, affidavits, and school records regarding Mr. Hall. (HR. 117). Dr. Krop believed that Mr. Hall was on medication when he was being evaluated, most likely an anti-depressant and possibly a pain-killer. (HR. 123). Dr. Krop had no contact with Mr. Hall after September of 1990 and did not testify at the December 1990 resentencing. (HR. 127). He testified that he felt Mr. Hall suffered from some neuropsychological impairment, had limited cognitive ability, brain damage, and "an I.Q. of 73, which is at the lower end of the borderline range." (HR. 136). The doctor believed Mr. Hall's "thinking was concrete, but that he was easily distracted and would have difficulty understanding complex or abstract concepts." (HR. 136).

Dr. Krop testified that at least in September of 1990, Mr. Hall knew who the Public Defender was, knew he was having a resentencing, and knew he could return to death row. (HR. 137). The doctor's only concern about Hall's competence was the possibility of inappropriate courtroom behavior, in that he felt Mr. Hall could act out in an abusive manner, possibly interfering with his ability to participate in the trial proceedings. (HR. 138). Dr. Krop pointed out that Mr. Hall's coping skills were primitive and limited, and that he would function in a fairly simplistic manner, as his social skills were very limited. (HR. 139). Dr. Krop testified that he always felt Mr. Hall was competent, although brain-damaged and with psychological problems. (HR. 154). Dr. Krop did not evaluate Mr. Hall in December 1990, immediately prior to the resentencing. (HR. 156).

Dr. Jethro Toomer testified that he first became involved with Mr. Hall's case in August of 1988. (HR. 162). After a battery of standard psychological tests to determine possible mitigation, Dr. Toomer found several mitigating factors including cognitive and organic impairment, intellectual deficiency, and family dysfunction. (HR. 164). The doctor also found Mr. Hall to be mentally retarded with an I.Q. of 60. (HR. 165). There was some dissention among the experts as to Mr. Hall's true I.Q. (HR. 179). Dr. Toomer was not asked to reevaluate Mr. Hall in December 1990, although he was available. (HR. 166-67). Dr. Toomer testified that he did not believe sitting and staring at a Bible throughout the proceedings was appropriate courtroom behavior. (HR. 172).

> When you are looking at an issue such as mental retardation, you are talking about impaired functioning that covers a number of particular areas. It impacts not only intellectual functioning, it also impacts with emotional functioning. It also impacts how a person interacts with his or her social environment. What you are talking about when you talk about mental retardation, you are talking about an individual who is unable to process information appropriately. Who is unable to interact appropriately with his or her environment because of those particular deficits. In other words, the individual's overall development chronologically has advanced. While his ability to process information, to interact appropriately with his environment has remained consistent with someone of a much younger chronological age. That would be, for example, such as the ability to reason concretely and abstractly. As we grow and develop, we begin to manifest the ability to reason abstractly, to go beyond the meaning of the words, to be able to project consequences, to weigh alternatives. If we are functioning at a much younger level then you are not able to do that. Our reasoning is more concrete. Our reasoning is more object based. So as a result, whenever we are put in a situation that requires abstract reasoning, that requires those higher thought processing such as weighing the consequences, weighing alternatives and the like, we are equipped to function. So you are talking about an individual who is experiencing a deficit intellectual functioning being unable to address, to appropriately process information that may impact on his decision making, long-term range and the like.

(HR. 173-74).

Dr. Alfred Fireman testified that Mr. Hall had been receiving neuroleptic drugs and antidepressants while in prison. (HR. 190). Specifically, Mr. Hall had received Thorazine, Trilafon, Mellaril, Pamelor, and Progestin. (HR. 191). He testified that an anti-depressant such as Pamelor would have an effect on testing for competency and retardation. (HR. 199, 204-05). He also testified that anti-psychotics such as Trilafon, Mellaril, and Thorazine were also prescribed in 1983, 1988, 1993, 1994, and 1995. (HR. 200, 205). He testified that:

> In Mr. Hall's case, they make reference to a personality disorder, or make reference to it, and I think the lay person somehow doesn't appreciate the severity of that sub-category of character illness. Which basically suggests that that person lives in a wonderland, where psychotic decompensation is like a whisper away. Couple that with mental retardation and you have a person who is transiently delusional, transiently paranoid, transiently out of contact with reality. And they are stress vulnerable.

(HR. 201-02).

However, Dr. Fireman had never met Mr. Hall, and would not render an opinion regarding Mr. Hall's competence. (HR. 205-06).

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