IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FREDDIE LEE HALL,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 92,008

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

deficiency, nor bizarre, volatile, and irrational behavior can be equated with mental incompetence to stand trial); <u>McCune V.</u> <u>Estelle</u>, 534 F.2d 611, 612 (5th Cir. 1976). The lower court's determination that Hall was competent at his resentencing proceeding in 1990 is not clearly erroneous and this Court should affirm. See <u>United States v. Hogan</u>, 986 F.2d 1364, 1372 (11th Cir. 1993) ("We hold that a district court's determination that a defendant is competent to stand trial is not reviewed de novo, it is not reviewed with a hard look, it is not reviewed under anything other than a clearly erroneous standard."); see also <u>Demosthenes v.</u> <u>Baal</u>, 495 U.S. 731, 109 L.Ed.2d 762 (1990)¹⁴.

¹⁴Appellee respectfully submits that Hall failed in the lower court even to establish entitlement to an evidentiary hearing since his claim of the availability of experts to show Hall's I.Q. in the 70's range had already been submitted to judge and jury (and this Court) at resentencing and appeal; and any claim of incompetency based thereon could have been litigated at the direct appeal stage rather then collaterally. Presumably, out of an abundance of caution, the prosecutor's response to the Rule 3.850 motion suggested the desirability of an evidentiary hearing; Hall's resultant failure of proof at the hearing thus occasioned no harm. This Court should acknowledge the view expressed in <u>Medina v.</u> Singletary, 59 F.3d 1095, 1106 (11th Cir. 1995) that "To show entitlement to a post-conviction evidentiary hearing on a substantive competency claim 'the standard of proof is high [and] the facts must positively, unequivocally and clearly generate the legitimate doubt'". See also Card v. Singletary, 981 F.2d 481, 484 (11th Cir. 1992), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 839, 126 L.Ed.2d 86 (1993); <u>Watts v. Singletary</u>, 87 F.3d 1282, 1290 (11th Cir. 1996) cert. denied, --- U.S. ---, 138 L.Ed.2d 200 (1997).

<u>ISSUE III</u>

WHETHER EXECUTION BY ELECTROCUTION IS CRUEL AND/OR UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

The question of whether execution by electrocution is unconstitutional as violative of the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment is apparently <u>not</u> one of first impression in this jurisdiction. Appellee's research has unearthed <u>Jones v.</u> <u>State</u>, 701 So.2d 76, 80 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 140 L.Ed.2d 335 (1998), where a majority determined:

We hold that electrocution in Florida's electric chair in its present condition is not cruel or unusual punishment.

See also <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, No. 92,622 (Fla. March 24, 1998) (order); <u>Remeta v. State</u>, 710 So.2d 543 (Fla. 1998); <u>Stano v.</u> <u>State</u>, 708 So.2d 271 (Fla. 1998).¹⁵

Since Florida's quadruple executions in March of this year, the States of Alabama, Georgia and Virginia have executed by electrocution Steven Allen Thompson on May 8, 1998, David Cargill on June 9, 1998, and Kenneth Manuel Stewart on September 23, 1998, respectively, with no judicial prohibition.

¹⁵That other states may have in recent years either changed its method of execution or allowed an alternative method may be of some historical interest and obviously the State of Florida has no interest in dictating to sister states what their policy should be, but even in the examples cited by appellant, Virginia and South Carolina apparently retain electrocution as an optional choice. One wonders how barbaric the method can be if the prisoner is permitted to choose it?

The trial court also correctly ruled that such a challenge was procedurally barred as an issue that could properly be presented via direct appeal (Vol. VI, R 942-943).

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE SUMMARY DENIAL OF ALL BUT ONE CLAIM IN THE 3.850 MOTION VIOLATED DUE PROCESS.

(a) Ineffective Assistance of Resentencing Counsel:

In the lower court appellant contended that resentencing counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to investigate and prepare additional mitigating evidence (Claim II, below, Vol. III, R. 346-350), in failing to provide mental health experts with available information (Claim IV, Vol. III, R. 352-357), again failed to adequately investigate and prepare the defense case (Claim VII, Vol. III, R. 369-375), and in failing to convince the judge for additional peremptory challenges at resentencing (Claim XXIV, Vol. III, R. 418).

Since appellant's abbreviated argument does not discuss the lower court's reasons for summary disposition of the claim, appellee will refer to the lower court's order:

CLAIM II

CLAIM II is among those claims found by this Court to be procedurally barred or legally insufficient and, therefore, was summarily denied by this Court's Order of July 2, 1997. The Court makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of its previous Order regarding this claim:

Defendant Hall alleges generally that Hall's Defendant trial counsel were ineffective in their investigation, preparation and conduct of the resentencing Specifically, proceeding. Defendant Hall asserts that the attorneys who represented Mr. Hall during his resentencing proceeding failed

to present, or otherwise pursue, evidence that Mack Ruffin admitted shooting Karol Hurst.

Contrary to allegations raised in the instant claim, Defendant's resentencing counsel called Arthur Pepper Freeman to testify as a defense witness during the resentencing proceeding. In response to questions posed by Defendant's counsel, Mr. Freeman testified that he was a Deputy Sheriff with the Sumter County Sheriff's Office in 1978 and, in that capacity, had several contacts with Mack Ruffin, Jr. Mr. Freeman's testimony proceeded as follows:

> [Defendant's resentencing counsel] Q. During one of those occasions when you had contact with Mr. Ruffin did you have an opportunity to discuss with Mr. Ruffin what happened back on February 21st when Carol [sic] Lea Hurst was shot?

[Arthur Freeman] A. I did.

Q. Did Mr. Ruffin, sir, tell you who shot Carol [sic] Hurst?

A. Yes, he did.

Q. Who did Mr. Ruffin say shot Mrs. Hurst?

A. He said he did.

Q. What else did Mr. Ruffin say?

A. He just explained to me how he done it.

Q. Please describe what he said.

A. By taking a 32 revolver, snapping it several times and it wouldn't --

Q. When you say 'snapping,' what you [sic] do you mean?

A. Well, he hit in the back of her head, you know, to shoot her with it. Snapped it several times and it wouldn't shoot so he got Hall's revolver and popped her in the back of the head.

Q. Did he say anything else to you about that?

A. No more than he said that, you know, he had to kill her because he didn't want her to talk.

Q. Mr. Ruffin was telling you that?

A. Right.

Q. Do you recall anything else Mr. Ruffin told you about that?

A. No more than that he had to prove himself a man.

Q. What was the context of that statement?

A. Well, he explained to me previously that they had robbed quite a few stores and that him and Hall ran together and he told him that he had to prove himself if he wanted to run with him.

Q. So Mr. Ruffin shot her to prove himself to be a man?

A. (Nodding head.)

RT.¹ 1605-1606.

In addition to presenting the testimony of Arthur Freeman, Defendant's counsel made

¹ References to the transcript of the resentencing proceeding, as paginated in the Record on Appeal, will be indicated as "RT. [pg. no.]".

the following arguments to the jury:

Recall Deputy Freeman's testimony, former Deputy Freeman. He was in and out of here so many times yesterday I couldn't keep up with him. He testified that Mack told him that the reason he shot Ms. Hurst was because she could identify him, Mack. Interesting that the State didn't call Mr. Freeman to the stand initially. We had to call Mr. Freeman to the stand initially. Curious question, perhaps the State didn't want you to hear that Mack Ruffin had admitted sexually Battering Ms. Hurst. Perhaps the State didn't want you to hear that Mack Ruffin shot Ms. Hurst.

RT. 2061-2062.

Now, you see, Mr. Freeman testified back in 1978 after Mack Ruffin was convicted. He's not making that up. Mack Ruffin told him, I shot the girl... We called him, cause we wanted you to hear the truth about who killed Mrs. Hurst on February 21st.

RT. 2063.

Because of his [Defendant Hall's] his level immaturity and ofdevelopment he tried to talk Mack out of shooting her. Mack Ruffin, a smarter person, the one with mental health, the one with the capacity to kill, what does he do, he says initially, Freddie did it. But Detective Freeman, Arthur Freeman, he says, I shot Carol [sic] Hurst. Mack Ruffin got life ... And finally number twenty-nine. Mack Ruffin, the actual killer, the person convicted for sexual battery, the man who shot Deputy James, the man

who had Ben Hurst's lighter in his pocket, got life.

RT. 2082.

The factual basis asserted to support the instant claim is misleading and fails to address the evidence that was presented by Defendant's resentencing counsel when Ruffin refused to testify. Notwithstanding the fact that the instant claim is refuted by the record, Defendant Hall's allegation that resentencing counsel could be found to have rendered ineffective assistance because the co-defendant refused to testify is absurd and devoid of merit on its face.

To the extent that Defendant Hall also that resentencing counsel asserts were ineffective for failing to present evidence that he was "treated differently" than Ruffin, his claims are similarly refuted by the Defendant's resentencing counsel record. introduced evidence establishing that Ruffin was sentenced to life for his role in the murder of Karol Hurst and argued the significance of that evidence to the jury.

As **CLAIM II** is refuted by the record and otherwise without merit, it is therefore **SUMMARILY DENIED**.

(Vol. VI, R. 888-892)

CLAIM IV

CLAIM IV is among those claims found by this Court to be procedurally barred or legally insufficient and, therefore, was summarily denied by this Court's Order of July 2, 1997.

This Court makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of its previous Order regarding this claim:

Defendant Hall alleges (A) that he was denied effective assistance of counsel "in that counsel failed to provide mental health experts with available information which the experts needed to make an accurate competency determination." Defendant Hall further alleges (B) that "the state withheld material exculpatory information needed to reach such a determination."

The instant sub-claim is SUB-CLAIM A: Defendant Hall's by repeated evidenced allegation that he was not "re-evaluated" on the issue of his competence in connection with the resentencing proceeding, and Defendant Hall's further allegation that resentencing failed conduct an adequate counsel to investigation into Defendant Hall's background and failed to provide information necessary for an expert to make an accurate competency determination. Defendant Hall professes that he is now in possession of a plethora of expert opinions that would establish: (a) that he is mentally retarded having an IQ of 73; (b) that he if functionally illiterate; (c) that he has memory deficits and probable brain damage; (d) that he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired; and (e) that testify that expert will the said an information was available during Defendant Hall's resentencing but was not presented. This Court finds that the record of the resentencing proceeding clearly reveals that the instant allegations are false. Defendant Hall's allegations are, in fact, so completely refuted by the record that they can only be characterized as spurious.

Defendant's resentencing counsel moved for, and was granted, a confidential mental health expert (RT. 50). The record also reveals that the trial court ordered the expert, Dr. Harry Krop, to examine Defendant Hall in accordance with Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.216(a) and to report directly to Defendant's resentencing counsel relative to "whether the Defendant is competent to stand trial pursuant to the criteria set forth in 916.12(1) Florida Statutes" (RT. 51). An order was subsequently

entered directing payment to Dr. Krop in the amount of \$425.00 for expert services including a "psychological evaluation" (RT. 67).

The record further reveals significant effort by Defendant's resentencing counsel to develop and present evidence regarding Defendant Hall's background. During the resentencing hearing, Defendant Hall's counsel introduced the following evidence:

- (1) testimony of Defendant Hall's attorney from Hall's 1967 rape trial (RT. 1533);
- (2) testimony of the custodian of records for the Sumter County school system who introduced all of Defendant Hall's school records, including teacher comments, dating back to 1952 (RT. 1553);
- (3) testimony from Defendant Hall's attorney from the original trial of the instant cause (RT. 1562);
- (4) testimony from five of Defendant Hall's nine surviving siblings (RT. 1571, 1590, 1625, 1632, 1654);
- (5) testimony from two of Defendant
 Hall's nieces (RT. 1616, 1658);
 and
- (6) testimony from a long-time family friend (RT. 1574).

Hall's resentencing counsel also submitted, for inclusion in the record, the deposition transcripts of three other surviving siblings (Suppl.² 90, 123, 148).

The record also reveals that Defendant's resentencing counsel:

 introduced the testimony of a psychiatrist (RT. 1703; Suppl.

² References to the "Supplemental Transcript To The Record On Appeal" of the resentencing proceeding will be indicated as "Suppl. [pg. no.]".

1), a psychologist (RT. 1742), and a criminologist/licensed health counselor (RT. mental 1822) all of whom testified that Defendant Hall was mentally retarded [the psychologist placing Defendant Hall's IQ at 60 (RT. 1749)], and all of whom testified that they were provided, and relied upon, information from Defendant Hall's siblings as to his background, medical and mental history, and upbringing;

- (2) introduced the testimony of a speech pathologist who testified that Defendant Hall was functionally illiterate (RT. 1706);
- (3)introduced, through the previously mentioned psychiatrist, the report of a neurologist whose examination of Defendant Hall revealed "evidence of poor memory and probable retardation" and indications of "disfunction or possible injury" on the right side of the brain (Suppl. 19-20), as well as the report of a neuropsychologist who examined Defendant Hall and concluded that Defendant Hall's test results were "characteristic of patients with serious brain damage: (Suppl. 21); and
- (4) introduced the testimony of the said psychiatrist, psychologist criminologist/licensed and mental health counselor who all opined that Defendant Hall was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance, that he lacked the capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct and that his ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of

the law was substantially impaired (Suppl. 39-40, RT. 1772-1773, RT. 1848-1854).

In sum, this Court finds that Defendant Halls's claims regarding the investigation and evidentiary presentation of his mental health mitigation by his resentencing counsel are completely refuted by the record and therefore are summarily denied on the merits.

Defendant Hall also alleges that "trial counsel" failed to present evidence and argument that "Mr. Hall's mental retardation and brain damage precluded him from forming 'intent' needed for the first-murder" the Defendant Hall's suggestion that [sic]. counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence and argument that Defendant Hall's mental condition precluded him from forming the intent necessary to commit murder either misapprehends the intent relevant in a capital sentencing proceeding or, in the alternative, relates to a guilt phase issue. In either instance, this Court concludes as a matter of law that the claim is procedurally barred as it should have been raised on direct appeal.

As **SUB-CLAIM (A)** of **CLAIM IV** is without merit and/or procedurally barred, it is therefore **SUMMARILY DENIED**.

(Vol. VI, R. 893-896)

* * * *

CLAIM VII

CLAIM VII is among those claims found by this Court to be procedurally barred or legally insufficient and, therefore, was summarily denied by this Court's Order of July 2, 1997.

This Court makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of its previous Order regarding this claim:

Defendant Hall alleges that he was "denied effective assistance of counsel at the resentencing phase of his trial", that Defendant's resentencing counsel "failed to adequately investigate and prepare the defense case and challenge to the state's case" and that "a full adversarial testing did not occur".

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